# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAZARO PADILLA and ELOY and IRMA RIVERO,

Petitioners,

VS.

LIBERTY MUTUAL
INSURANCE COMPANY and
URBAN INSURANCE
COMPANY OF PENNSYLVANIA,

Respondents.

<u>-</u>	/
	INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

Carlos Lidsky, Esquire LIDSKY, VACCARO & MONTES Attorneys at Law, P.A. 145 E. 49<sup>th</sup> Street Hialeah, Florida 33013 (305) 822-2100 Sharon C. Degnan, Esquire Diane H. Tutt, Esquire DIANE H. TUTT, P.A. 8211 W. Broward Boulevard, Suite 420 Plantation, Florida 33324 (954) 475-9933

Counsel for Petitioners

# **

#### INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

These consolidated cases are before the Court on review of a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal certifying an express and direct conflict with a decision of another District Court of Appeal on the same question of law. This Court has discretionary jurisdiction. *See* Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const.

In its opinion, the Third District adopted the reasoning of the Fourth District in the case of *Malu v. Security National Ins. Co.*, 848 So. 2d 373 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). The underlying facts and the theories of liability presented in *Malu* and in *Padilla/Rivero*<sup>1</sup> are identical. By adopting the reasoning articulated by the *Malu* panel, the Third District in *Padilla/Rivero*, like the Fourth District in *Malu*, affirmed the trial courts' orders of dismissal on grounds that were not and could not be raised by any of the parties, either in the trial court or in the district court of appeal. In so doing, despite the fact that the issue of medical travel costs as a compensable benefit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the Third District, the case of *Padilla v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Company*, L.T. Case No. 00-32407 CA05 and *Rivero v. Urban Insurance Company of Pennsylvania*, L.T. Case No. 00-33130 CA32, were consolidated since they presented the identical legal issue for determination.

under the PIP statute was not in dispute, the Third District nevertheless held that such costs are not permitted under the PIP statutory scheme. In so holding, the Third District expressly disagreed with an opinion of the Fifth District in *Hunter v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 498 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) and certified conflict accordingly.

The question presented in these cases, which will affect motor vehicle insureds statewide, is whether, under the PIP statutory scheme, an insured is entitled to payment for the cost of transportation in connection with reasonable and necessary medical treatment as an allowable benefit pursuant to F.S. § 627.736(1)(a). This question is significant because the Third District's opinion, which was rendered just two months after the Fourth District's decision in *Malu*, has essentially eliminated an entire category of PIP benefits, which, for almost seventeen years, were recognized as an allowable and routinely paid benefit in this State. As with the Fourth District's opinion in *Malu*, the Third District's opinion herein was rendered *sua sponte* on a record that did not present this issue and despite the fact that, since the time that *Hunter* was decided back in 1986, not a single insurance carrier in the State has ever questioned the right of its insureds to receive these benefits.

As will be argued in detail below, it is the Petitioners' position that the reasoning

applied by the Fourth District in *Malu*, which was adopted in its entirety by the Third District in *Padilla/Rivero*, is not legally sound and should therefore be rejected. In doing so, this Court is respectfully urged to reaffirm the vitality of the *Hunter* opinion and, in the process, approve of the judicial interpretation placed upon the PIP Statute by the Fifth District back in 1986, which construction has been legislatively approved of for the past seventeen years.

Throughout this brief, Petitioners, the Appellants below, will be referred to as "Plaintiffs." The Respondents, the Appellees below, LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY and URBAN INSURANCE COMPANY OF PENNSYLVANIA, will be referred to collectively as "Defendants" and individually as either "Liberty Mutual" or "Urban."

References to the documents contained in the appellate record from the *Padilla* case, L.T. Case No. 00-32407 CA05 will be designated "R1." followed by the appropriate page in the record. References to the documents contained in the appellate record in the *Rivero* case, L.T. Case No. 00-33130 CA32, will be designated "R2." References to the motion to dismiss hearing transcripts from each case, both of which have been included in a supplemental record, will be designated "Supp R" followed by the appropriate page in the supplemental record.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### **PIP Mileage Putative Class Dispute**

Mr. Padilla was insured under a private passenger automobile insurance policy issued by Liberty Mutual. (R1. 1). Mr. and Mrs. Rivero were insured under a private passenger automobile insurance policy from Urban. (R2. 1).

After sustaining injuries in motor vehicle accidents, Plaintiffs each made a claim for Personal Injury Protection ("PIP") benefits under their respective insurance policies. (R1. 1; R2. 1). Among the benefits sought by Plaintiffs was payment for the cost of the use of their personal automobiles to travel to and from their medical providers. (R1. 1; R2. 1). According to their usual and customary practice, both Liberty Mutual and Urban **unilaterally** paid their insureds a standard, predetermined amount of 32.5 cents per mile as travel benefits.<sup>2</sup> (R1. 2; R2. 2).

After discovering the amount that their insurers paid per mile for the use of their vehicles, Padilla and Rivero both filed class claims in the Dade County Circuit Court against their respective insurers alleging that they were entitled to be paid more than

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In light of the fact that both Liberty Mutual and Urban voluntarily paid medical travel benefits to their insureds in these cases, the underlying compensability of these benefits under the PIP statute was never at issue. Instead, the issue was simply whether Plaintiffs had a right under the PIP Statute, on their own behalf and on behalf of all other similarly situated insureds, to challenge the amount of the standard rate paid by their insurance companies.

32.5 cents per mile for medical transportation costs. (R1. 1-17; R2. 2-17). Plaintiffs' putative class actions sought declaratory relief and damages for breach of contract based upon violations of Florida's PIP statute. F.S. § 627.736. (R1. 1-17; R2. 2-17).

### Mileage Claims' Factual Predicate

In support of their claims, Plaintiffs relied upon the National Transportation Statistics promulgated by the U.S. Department of Transportation, which established that while 32.5 cents per mile may have been a reasonable figure in 1991, this amount is no longer legitimate as a realistic estimate of the total cost per mile to operate a private passenger automobile. (R1. 11-15; R2. 11-17). Thus, Plaintiffs alleged that the mileage amount "rate" that their insurers paid for medical transportation costs was not reasonable and that they were entitled to be reimbursed at a higher rate. (R1. 1-17; R2. 2-17).

# **Defendants' Arguments**

In response to Plaintiffs' complaints, both Liberty Mutual and Urban filed extensive motions to dismiss. (R1. 18-56; R2. 18-39). Ignoring the governmental data attached to Plaintiff's Complaint, both Defendants argued that the amount that they paid to their insureds in connection with transportation to obtain medical treatment was reasonable as a matter of law. (R1. 18-56; R2. 18-39).

Furthermore, both Defendants argued that Plaintiffs' claims should be dismissed

under the doctrine of primary jurisdiction. (R1. 18-56; R2. 18-39). Specifically, they claimed that because "the Department of Insurance has developed regulations that detail how PIP benefits are to be paid" and because the complaint "implicitly challenges the DOI's [Florida Department of Insurance] regulations and authority to oversee insurers," the complaint should be dismissed in order to be considered by the Department of Insurance. (R1. 18-56; R2. 18-39).

### **Hearings on the Motions to Dismiss**

On April 5, 2001, the trial court conducted a hearing in *Padilla* on Liberty Mutual's motion to dismiss. Counsel for Liberty Mutual argued that the issue raised in the complaint was not an issue for resolution by the court, but rather was appropriate for the Department of Insurance to promulgate a "rule or something" as to a uniform amount to be reimbursed to Florida's PIP claimants. (Supp R. 113-114). Padilla opposed Liberty Mutual's contention and argued that the determination that he was asking to be made by the trier of fact was essentially the same as in any other PIP case where a jury is asked to determine whether a specific charge is reasonable. (Supp R. 118-118). The trial court accepted Liberty Mutual's argument and dismissed Padilla's complaint without prejudice based on the primary jurisdiction doctrine. (Supp R. 124-126; R1. 97).

A hearing was held on Urban's motion to dismiss in *Rivero* on June 25, 2001.

Relying upon the dismissal order in *Padilla*, Urban argued that the court should defer to DOI for determination of the amount of travel reimbursement to which the Riveros were entitled. (Supp R. 134-135, 139). Moreover, Urban argued that, as a matter of law, the 32.5 cent travel reimbursement rate was reasonable. (Supp R. 135-136). As the primary basis to support this contention, Urban alleged that the worker's compensation law recognized that the amount of 29 cents per mile, which was the amount paid to <u>public employees</u>, was also an appropriate amount for PIP medical travel expenses. (Supp R. 136).

The *Rivero* lower court inquired why Plaintiffs felt they were justified in seeking more than 32.5 cents per mile given that a lesser amount had been legislatively specified in other contexts. The Riveros responded that, contrary to Urban's suggestion, there was no Florida authority establishing that 32.5 cents per mile was a reasonable de jure amount under the PIP statute and that just because the legislature had set other lower amounts in other contexts did not necessarily mean that these amounts were "reasonable" pursuant to F.S. § 627.736. (Supp R. 141-144).

When the lower court questioned what basis it had to rule that the amount of 32.5 cents was not reasonable, Plaintiffs pointed out that the issue was not one to be decided by the court, but rather was a <u>factual determination</u> to be made by a jury as in any other breach of an insurance contract action. (Supp R. 147-148, 154-155).

Moreover, Plaintiffs stated that they believed that, based on the statistics from the U.S. Department of Transportation, that a reasonable travel benefit rate would be in the range of 50 cents per mile, and that the specific amount would be determined by a jury after hearing expert testimony from both parties as to why they felt their proposed amount was reasonable. (Supp R. 145-146, 149-150).

The lower court granted Urban's motion to dismiss with prejudice and made a finding that, as a matter of law, the 32.5 cents per mile that Urban paid to its insureds was reasonable. (Supp R. 170-171). Additionally, the court concluded that DOI should be the forum to consider Plaintiffs' claims and thus dismissed the complaint on the basis of the primary jurisdiction doctrine. (Supp R. 171).

On appeal in the Third District, Plaintiffs challenged both the *Padilla* and the *Rivero* dismissals.

# **Proceedings in the Third District**

On appeal, Plaintiffs raised two issues. Initially, Plaintiffs challenged the trial courts' rulings regarding the applicability of the "primary jurisdiction doctrine," arguing that the Department of Insurance is not authorized to and has never engaged in the business of regulating PIP mileage claims brought by insureds and has no ability to resolve the dispute between Plaintiffs and their insurance company.

Additionally, Plaintiffs argued that the trial courts had erred in concluding that

the amount that Defendants paid to their insureds for medical travel costs was reasonable as a matter of law. Plaintiffs asserted that such a finding was not susceptible to determination as a matter of law, but rather could only be made by the trier of fact and that by dismissing Plaintiffs' claim on the grounds that it did, the trial courts went far beyond the four corners of the complaint and made improper factual findings at the motion to dismiss stage of the proceeding and basically usurped the function of the jury.

In their opinion, the Third District in *Padilla/Rivero* found that all of the various issues that had been raised by the parties throughout the proceeding were moot because the panel was in agreement with the Fourth District's analysis in the recent decision of *Malu v. Security National Insurance Co.*, 848 So. 2d 373 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), wherein the court had concluded that automobile transportation expenses were not compensable under the PIP statute.

In support of affirmance, the *Padilla/Rivero* decision quoted from the *Malu* opinion, wherein the Fourth District had elaborated its logic as follows:

Our reasoning is based on the fact that the legislature specifically included [in § 627.736(1)(a)] transportation by ambulance, but did not mention any other type of transportation in the PIP statute. The mention of one type of transportation implies the exclusion of other types. *Moonlit Waters Apartments, Inc. v. Cauley*, 666 So. 2d 898, 900 (Fla. 1996)("Under the principle of statutory

construction, expressio unius est exclusio alterius, the mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another.").

The Third District concluded its opinion by stating that if the Florida legislature "deems it appropriate" to provide for medical travel benefits under the PIP Statute, it can "do so specifically" and further commented that the legislature could also provide the Department of Insurance with rulemaking authority to determine the appropriate rate for such benefits.

On this basis, the Third District expressed its opinion that the PIP Statute does not include transportation expenses sought by Plaintiffs in their claim and expressed its disagreement with *Hunter v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 498 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), wherein the Fifth District had expressly ruled that such expenses were compensable under the PIP Statute. It is based upon this express and direct interdistrict conflict that this matter appears before this Court.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

#### Point I

The Third District's application of the "tipsy coachman" rule was a misapplication of the doctrine since the issue of the compensability of medical travel costs as a benefit under the PIP statute was never at issue in this case.

#### Point II

The *Padilla/Rivero* court, like the *Malu* panel, overlooked that the Florida legislature has unconditionally approved of *Hunter*'s interpretation of F.S. § 627.736(1)(a) to include medical travel costs as a "reasonable expense for necessary medical services" by virtue of its failure, over the past seventeen years, to have made any substantive changes to the statutory language contained in the PIP statute. In blindly applying the *exclusio unius est exclusio alterius* maxim, the Third and Fourth Districts have interpreted the PIP statute in a manner that is not only entirely inconsistent with the well-settled policy of Florida courts to construe the Florida No-Fault Act provisions in favor of insureds, but also is adverse to the clear legislative purpose of providing broad PIP coverage for Florida motorists so as to maximize, not minimize, insurance coverage.

#### Point III

Because the Department of Insurance is not authorized to and has never

engaged in the business of regulating PIP mileage claims brought by insureds, the doctrine of primary jurisdiction has no applicability to this dispute. Moreover, the Department of Insurance is not empowered to award the money damages sought in this breach of contract action and thus has no ability to resolve this dispute. The action initiated by Plaintiff is a standard breach of contract claim, which has historically and customarily been resolved in and by the courts.

#### Point IV

The trial court did not have sufficient information to decide whether a class action could be maintained and thus abused its discretion in denying class certification prematurely.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Judicial interpretation of Florida statutes is a purely legal matter and therefore subject to *de novo* review. *Engineering Contractors Ass'n of South Florida, Inc. v. Broward County*, 789 So. 2d 445 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001); *Racetrac Petroleum, Inc. v. Delco Oil, Inc.*, 721 So. 2d 376 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

#### **ARGUMENT**<sup>3</sup>

#### Point I

THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION TO APPLY THE "TIPSY COACHMAN" RULE TO THIS CASE WAS A MISAPPLICATION OF THE DOCTRINE BECAUSE THE RECORD DOES NOT SUPPORT THE ALTERNATIVE THEORY UPON WHICH THE CASE WAS DECIDED.

### The "Tipsy Coachman" Doctrine

In *Dade County School Board v. Radio Station WQBA*, 731 So. 2d 638 (Fla. 1999) and again in *Robertson v. State*, 829 So. 2d 901 (Fla. 2002), this Court addressed the proper application of the "tipsy coachman" doctrine and explained that under this longstanding principle, an appellate court is permitted to affirm a trial court that reaches the right result, but for the wrong reason, so long as there is any basis that would support the judgment in the record. *Radio Station WQBA* at 644-645; *Roberston* at 906. In *Robertson*, *supra*, it was emphasized that the key to applying

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The arguments raised in this brief are virtually identical to those raised in the brief filed in *Malu v. Security National*, which was recently consolidated with this case. The reason two separate briefs have been filed is because, as of the date that the *Malu* brief was due, this Court had yet to make a decision on whether or not it was going to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and review *Padilla/Rivero*. At this point, because *Malu* has been fully briefed, it seems to make more sense to keep the briefs separate, as opposed to filing an amended brief directed to all of the consolidated Defendants.

the "tipsy coachman" doctrine is that the record before the trial court must support the alternative theory or principle of law. See also State, Dept. of Revenue ex rel. Rochell v. Morris, 736 So. 2d 41, 42 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)(rejecting request to apply "tipsy coachman" rule where argument asserted was not raised below and thus not supported by the record on appeal).

In *Delissio v. Delissio*, 821 So. 2d 350 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002), Judge Browning wrote a compelling dissenting opinion regarding the impropriety of a *sua sponte* application of the "tipsy coachman" rule by an appellate court on grounds never raised or argued by either party in the trial court or on appeal. The *Delissio* dissent recognized that cases in which the "tipsy coachman" doctrine have been applied are scenarios where the opposing party, at some point in the case, advanced the alternative basis for affirmance. *Id.* at 355. In explaining why it was improper to utilize the "tipsy coachman" rule where the alternative theory was not presented by the opposing party, Judge Browning stated:

Here, the parties will for the first time, become acquainted with the argument which forms the basis and rationale of this court's decision upon receipt of the majority's opinion . . . Moreover, in my judgment, when an appellate court affirms a trial court's erroneous ruling by searching for a basis for affirmance not argued by the parties, as the majority does here, an unintended byproduct is the impression that the court is a part of the adversarial process

rather than a neutral judicial arbitrator. I realize that an appellate court must act sua sponte on issues involving jurisdiction, public policy, and illegality. However, this case involves the parties' private agreement that does not touch upon these exceptions. Furthermore, when a case is decided on an issue unnoticed to the parties, serious due process considerations are raised. *Id.* at 355.

### The Record Does Not Support the Alternative Grounds for Affirmance

Plaintiff respectfully submits that the concerns expressed by Judge Browning in *Delissio* are valid as is his view that it is unfair, improper, and violative of due process for an appellate court to *sua sponte* invoke the "tipsy coachman" doctrine in order to decide a case on an issue that, until the time that the appellate panel's opinion is issued, is completely foreign to the proceeding.

Such is the situation presented in this case since the underlying issue of the compensability of medical travel costs under the PIP statute was never at issue in the case. Neither Liberty Mutual nor Urban, at any time, in either the lower court or the appellate proceeding, objected to paying medical travel costs under the PIP statute. The record is clear that the only dispute between the parties in these cases was the amount of the benefits paid.

By invoking the "tipsy coachman" doctrine on the grounds that it did, the Third

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