## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-1327

#### SANDRA MALU,

Petitioner,

v.

### SECURITY NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF**

BARRANCO, KIRCHER & VOGELSANG, P.A. 150 West Flagler Street Museum Tower, Suite 1400 Miami, Florida 33130

Attorneys for Respondent

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

**ISSUE I** The Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in this case expressly and directly conflicts with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in *Hunter v. Allstate* on the same legal issue, to wit: whether Florida's PIP statute requires auto insurers to reimburse insureds for personal transportation costs incurred in obtaining medical care. The Fourth District interpreted the language of the PIP statute at issue and concluded that the statute does not require auto insurers to pay this expense. The Fifth District reached a contrary result in *Hunter*.

Respondent Security National contends that the Fourth District's decision in this case should be approved because the Fourth District correctly interpreted the 'medical benefits' provision of the PIP statute. When construing a statute, a court must look first to the statutory language which is the best indicator of the legislature's intent. The 'medical benefits' provision requires auto insurers to pay "eighty percent of all reasonable expenses for . . . medically necessary ambulance . . . services." §627.736(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2001). The statute does not reference any other type of transportation costs, and its plain language governs. Thus, as the Fourth District

properly concluded, auto insurers are not required to reimburse insureds for personal mileage expenses they incur in obtaining medical treatment.

Contrary to Petitioner Malu's position, this Court's decision in *Mobley v. Jack* & *Son Plumbling* does not support a different result. In *Mobley*, this Court had to determine whether personal transportation costs were recoverable by injured workers under the worker's compensation statute. Given the exceptionally broad scope of the worker's compensation statute, the Court held that transportation costs incurred by injured workers were reimbursable expenses. The Fifth District relied on *Mobley* for its holding in *Hunter* that personal transportation costs are recoverable under the PIP statute. The Fifth District concluded — with no significant analysis — that the PIP statute and the worker's compensation statute are analogous; therefore *Mobley* resolves the legal question in this case, i.e., whether the PIP statute requires reimbursement of personal transportation costs.

The Fifth District's reasoning fails because the statutes are not analogous in scope. The worker's compensation statute is interpreted to provide benefits to injured workers for virtually every type of expense arising from an employee's injury because, in exchange for those benefits, workers gave up their right to bring a tort action against their employers for injuries sustained on the job. As this Court stated in *Mobley*, the injured worker is not to bear *any* expense associated with the injury. On the other hand,

the PIP statute places economic responsibility on both the auto insurer and the insured. The auto insurer pays eighty percent of the medically necessary treatment the insured receives as the result of an automobile accident and the insured pays the remaining 20 percent. In addition, the auto insurer is not obligated to pay more than the \$10,000 limit of liability on most policies and the insured is required to pay the deductible if one applies. Thus, unlike the worker's compensation statute, the PIP statute was not designed to cover every expense associated with an automobile accident. In short, this Court's decision in *Mobley* is not controlling.

Lastly, Petitioner Malu relies on the rule of statutory construction regarding legislative inaction for the conclusion that the Florida Legislature must agree with the Fifth District's analysis in *Hunter*. The legislature has taken no action on the issue since the Fifth District decided *Hunter*, thus the legislature intended auto insurers to pay for personal transportation costs. The problem for Malu is the long-standing rule that this Court has announced again and again — i.e., a court does not resort to rules of statutory construction when the statute at issue is unambiguous. As detailed above, the PIP statute is clear; auto insurers must pay for transportation costs arising from medically necessary ambulance services. The statute makes no reference to personal transportation costs, and for a court to conclude that such costs are nonetheless reimbursable, it would have to create a statutory obligation out of whole cloth. The

Fourth District recognized that the plain statutory language of the 'medical benefits' provision governs this dispute, and its decision in this case that personal transportation costs are not reimbursable should be affirmed.

**ISSUE II** Petitioner Malu argues that the Fourth District exceeded the scope of its appellate review when it interpreted the PIP statute because entitlement to transportation benefits had not been contested in the trial court. The Fourth District, however, properly relied on the Tipsy Coachman rule to affirm the trial court's ruling on a different legal theory. The facts necessary to support the Fourth District's decision were of record, which is the key requirement for applying the Tipsy Coachman rule. In fact, both parties cited the *Hunter* case and the trial court, as the Fourth District noted, was constrained to abide by that decision. The Fourth District did nothing more than disagree with *Hunter* on the interpretation of the PIP statute, which is clearly within its purview.

**ISSUE III** In this point on appeal, Petitioner Malu contends that the trial court erred in applying the doctrine of primary jurisdiction as an additional basis to dismiss her complaint. As detailed in text, Respondent Security National is not pursuing this argument as grounds for affirming the final order of dismissal.

**ISSUE IV** In the event this Court approves the Fifth District's decision in *Hunter* rather than the Fourth District's decision on review, Respondent Security National

12

maintains that the trial court's ruling on class certification is an alternative basis to affirm the dismissal. Petitioner Malu argues that the trial court erred on the class certification issue because the court ruled without first permitting discovery. It is clear, however, from the face of the complaint that the reasonableness of a particular mileage rate cannot be decided on a class basis. What a reasonable mileage rate is will vary in each case. Determining a reasonable mileage rate is no different than determining whether a medical procedure is medically necessary. These are issues which must be determined on a case by case basis. Thus, the trial court properly dismissed Petitioner Malu's complaint on grounds that she failed to plead a viable class action.

#### ARGUMENT

#### **Standard of Review**

The issue on review is one of statutory construction. The Fourth District Court of Appeal interpreted the PIP statute to exclude transportation costs as a reimbursable expense incidental to an insured's medical treatment. The Fifth District arrived at a conflicting interpretation of the statute in *Hunter*. Whether the Fourth District correctly interpreted the PIP statute is a question of law which is reviewed *de novo*. "Judicial interpretation of Florida statutes is a purely legal matter and therefore subject to *de novo* review." *Racetrac Petroleum, Inc. v. Delco Oil, Inc.*, 721 So. 2d 376, 377 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup>)

DCA 1998). See also, e.g., Fitzgerald v. South Florida Hospital District, 840 So. 2d

460, 461 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) (the interpretation of a statute is a matter of law subject

to de novo review); University of Florida, Bd. Of Trustees v. Sanal, 837 So. 2d 512,

513 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2003) (the construction of a statute is reviewable *de novo*).

- ISSUE I The Fourth District Court of Appeal correctly concluded that the PIP statute does not provide for the reimbursement of transportation costs such as mileage
- A. The PIP statute limits reimbursable transportation costs to medically necessary ambulance services

In the decision below, the Fourth District Court of Appeal interpreted the "medical benefits" provision of the PIP statute. Florida's PIP statute requires automobile insurers to pay the following medical benefits:

Eighty percent of all reasonable expenses for medically necessary medical, surgical, X-ray, dental and rehabilitative services, including prosthetic devices, and medically necessary ambulance, hospital, and nursing services.

§627.736(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2001). Petitioner Malu contends that this provision of the PIP statute requires insurers to reimburse insureds for personal transportation costs, including a mileage allowance when an insured drives his or her own car to obtain medical treatment. As the Fourth District correctly noted, however, "the statute does not provide for the cost of driving to obtain medical treatment." *Malu v. Security National Insurance Co.*, 848 So. 2d 373 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003). In fact, the statute makes

no reference to transportation other than transportation by ambulance. The Fourth District's factual premise is undisputedly accurate, i.e., "the legislature specifically included transportation by ambulance, but did not mention any other type of transportation in the PIP statute." *Id* at 374.

The question then is whether there is any proper legal basis to add benefits (by judicial interpretation) not specifically provided for by the Florida Legislature in the PIP statute. The Fourth District concluded that the statute should be construed as written. The statute is clear and unambiguous. Insurers must pay "[e]ighty percent of all reasonable expenses for . . . medically necessary ambulance . . . services." §627.736(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2001). No other transportation costs are mentioned.

In support of its interpretation, the Fourth District cited the rule of statutory construction know as *expressio unius est exclusio alterius* — i.e., the mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another. *Malu*, 848 So. 2d at 374. In applying this rule of construction, the Fourth District reasoned that the "mention of one type of transportation implies the exclusion of other types." *Id.* Petitioner Malu denounces the Fourth District's use of this rule of statutory construction on grounds that it is "notoriously unreliable." Malu Initial Brief, pp. 23-24.

Petitioner Malu's argument in that regard is unavailing for two reasons. First, the "medical benefits" provision of the PIP statute at issue does not need interpretation or the application of any rule of statutory construction. The statute clearly makes no provision for the reimbursement of personal transportation costs.<sup>2</sup> Second, to the extent that the rule supports what is evident from the statute's wording, this Court has relied on the rule as a viable tool for analyzing statutes. *Moonlit Waters Apartments, Inc. v. Cauley*, 666 So. 2d 898, 900 (Fla. 1996). It is difficult to believe that this Court has previously and repeatedly relied on a rule of statutory construction which is "notoriously unreliable." *See also, e.g., Grenitz v. Tomlian*, 2003 WL 21290887 (Fla. June 5, 2003) (applying the *expressio unius est exclusio alterius* rule to interpret a statute and holding that legislature intend to exclude what it did not mention); *Mosher v. Anderson*, 817 So. 2d 812 (Fla. 2002) (applying the rule; the inclusion of written payable-on-demand loans in the statute implies the exclusion of oral payable-on-demand loans).

In *Hunter*, the Fifth District went beyond the plain meaning of the statute to conclude that the legislature must have intended for insurers to pay personal transportation costs. *Hunter v. Allstate Insurance Company*, 498 So. 2d 514, 516 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1986). The Fifth District reasoned that transportation costs constitute a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The Third District Court of Appeal recently considered the same issue in *Padilla v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co.*, 2003 WL 21697054 (Fla. 3d DCA July 23, 2003). The Third District agreed with the Fourth District's analysis in *Malu* and adopted it as its own, i.e., the PIP statute does not provide for reimbursement of personal transportation costs. *Id.* at \*2. Like the Fourth District, the Third District certified conflict with *Hunter. Id.* 

"reasonable expense" for obtaining a "necessary medical service." *Id.* Contrary to the *expressio unius est exclusio alterius* rule of statutory construction, the Fifth District then stated that personal transportation costs must be covered under the statute because the cost of ambulatory services are specifically covered. *Id.* According to the Fifth District, "it is illogical that a person could be transported by an ambulance to receive services and be recompensed, but not be reimbursed if the person traveled in his own vehicle." *Id.* 

The Fifth District erred in its analysis on this point. It is not illogical for an insured to be reimbursed for the cost of ambulance services and not for the cost of personal transportation. An insured is reimbursed for ambulance services only when the use of an ambulance is "medically necessary." §627.736(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2001). It is important to note at this point that the "medical benefits" provision of the PIP statute has been slightly, but significantly, modified since the Fifth District issued its decision in *Hunter*. The word "medically" was inserted in the following two locations:

Eighty percent of all reasonable expenses for *medically* necessary medical, surgical, X-ray, dental and rehabilitative services, including prosthetic devices, and *medically* necessary ambulance, hospital, and nursing services.

§627.736(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2001). Thus, an insured may not use an ambulance as his or her personal taxi service to and from medical appointments at the expense of the insurer.

17

Instead, the insurer is only required to pay for ambulance services when the insured is unable — for medical reasons — to transport him or herself to the medical appointment.

In short, as shown by the statute's plain language, the legislature intended for insurers to pay some (but not all) transportation costs incurred by the insured. The insurer must pay for transportation costs when it is medically necessary for the insured to be transported via ambulance. Any other interpretation of the medical benefits provision of the PIP statute is not supported by the statute's plain meaning. This Court has held many times that the plain meaning of a statute should govern and that no interpretation is necessary when the statute is clear. As this Court noted in *Acosta v*. *Richter*, 671 So. 2d 149, 153 (Fla. 1996), the polestar of statutory construction is "the plain meaning of the statute at issue." In this case, the Fourth District properly construed the 'medical benefits' provision of the statute and its decision holding that personal transportation costs are not reimbursable should be affirmed.

#### B. This Court's decision in *Mobley* is not applicable to the PIP statute

The only other basis for Petitioner Malu's argument that auto insurers must pay for personal transportation costs is this Court's opinion in *Mobley v. Jack & Son Plumbing*, 170 So. 2d 41 (Fla. 1964). The Fifth District concluded in *Hunter* that *Mobley* is applicable and controlling on this issue. *Hunter*, 498 So. 2d at 515-516. In *Mobley*, this Court had to determine whether the worker's compensation statute entitled an injured worker to reimbursement for personal transportation costs incidental to medical care. *Mobley*, 170 So. 2d at 46-47. The exact statutory provision at issue was the requirement that an employer provide the injured employee with "such remedial treatment, care and attendance as the injury shall require." *Id.* This Court held in *Mobley* that the worker's compensation statute must be interpreted to include reimbursement for personal transportation costs because "the Legislature intended that an injured employee be given medical treatment at the expense of the employer-carrier and without expense to himself." *Mobley*, 170 So. 2d at 47.

In *Hunter* — with virtually no analysis to support the proposition — the Fifth District accepted the insured's argument that "the worker's compensation law is analogous to no-fault insurance coverage, and thus the same extent of coverage should apply." *Hunter*, 498 So. 2d at 515. According to the Fifth District, personal transportation costs are reimbursable under the PIP statute because, as this Court held in *Mobley*, those same costs are reimbursable under the worker's compensation statute. The Fifth District's only support for applying the *Mobley* holding in the context of transportation costs under the PIP statute is the general legal proposition that the PIP statute is construed liberally in favor of the insured. *Id.* at 516. As detailed next, the Fifth District failed to recognize that the framework of the PIP statute is different from

the worker's compensation such that this Court's decision in *Mobley* is not dispositive of the issue in this case.

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